1996

# Mario B. Beltran v. Denise Allan : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE COURT

The Utah Court of Appeals Court has original jurisdiction of this matter in accordance with Article VIII, Section 5 of the Constitution of Utah and Utah Code Annotated 78-2a-3(k) (1994 as Amended).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The sole issue on appeal relates to the trial court's action in granting the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. The Appellant contends that the trial court committed error in granting the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and relies upon three lines of reasoning to support his position.

1. The Trial Court Committed Error in Ruling that there were no Material Facts Precluding the Granting of Summary Judgment.

The Appellant preserved this issue for appeal in his response to the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and affidavit (R. 227-259).

Because summary judgment by definition does not resolve

factual issues, an appellate challenge to the granting of summary judgment presents only questions of law for review. The conclusions of law are reviewed for correctness, with no deference to the trial court's determination. Country Oaks Condominium Management Comm. v. Jones, 851 P.2d 640, 641 (Utah 1993); Allen v. Prudential Property & Casualty Ins. Co., 839 P.2d 798, 800 (Utah 1992); Perkins v. Great-Western Assurance Company, 814 P.2d 1125 (Utah Ct. Ap. 1991); Transamerica Cash Reserve, Inc. v. Dixie Power and Water, Inc., 798 P.2d 24, 25 (Utah 1990).

The appellate court is to consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the losing party and affirms "only where it appears that there is no genuine issue of fact, or where, even according to the facts as contended by the losing party, the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." D & L Supply v. Saurini, 775 P.2d 420, 421 (Utah 1989); Themy v. Seagull Enter., Inc., 595 P.2d 526, 528-29 (Utah 1979). The nondeferential standard of review also applies to the threshold issue of whether there are no material issues of fact such that summary judgment is in order. Neiderhauser Builders & Dev. Corp. v. Campbell, 824 P.2d 1193, 1196 (Utah App. 1992).

2. Did the Trial Court Error in Ruling, as a Matter of Law, that the Appellant was not Excused from Filing a Notice of Paternity by the "Impossibility" Exception as Formulated in Ellis v. Social Services Department, 615 P.2d 1250 (Utah 1980) and Utah Code Annotated 78-30-4.8 (Supp. 1994).

The Appellant reserved the issue for appellate review in his response to the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and in his affidavit filed in connection therewith (R. 227-259).

The conclusions of law made by the trial court in applying Ellis are reviewed for correctness, with no difference to the trial court's conclusions. Country Oaks Condominium Management Comm. v. Jones, 851 P.2d 640, 641 (Utah 1993); Allen v. Prudential Property & Casualty Ins. Co., 839 P.2d 798, 800 (Utah 1992); Perkins v. Great-Western Assurance Company, 814 P.2d 1125 (Utah Ct. Ap. 1991); Transamerica Cash Reserve, Inc. v. Dixie Power and Water, Inc., 798 P.2d 24, 25 (Utah 1990).

3. Did the Trial Court Commit Error in Ruling, as a Matter of Law, that the Decision of the Utah Court of Appeals, in the Matter of the Adoption of W, 275 Utah Adv. Rep. 20 (Utah Ct. App. 1995), is Dispositive of the Issues in this Case and, As Applied to the Facts of this Case, is the Utah Adoption Statute, Requiring the Filing of a Notice of Paternity, Constitutional.

The Appellate reserved his right to challenge the trial court's findings on appeal in his response to the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and in his affidavit filed with the court (R. 227-259).

The issue raised herein is a question of law. The appellate court is not obligated to give deference to the trial court's conclusions of law but reviews them for correctness. Western Kane County Special Serv. Dist. No. 1 v. Jackson Cattle Co., 744 P.2d 1376, 1377-78 (Utah 1987).

#### DISPOSITIVE STATUTES

The interpretation of Utah Code Annotated 78-30-4.8 (1994) is important in resolving the issues on appeal in this matter.

(1)(a) Any person who is the father or claims to be the father of a child born outside of marriage may file notice of his claim of paternity and of his willingness and intent to support the child to the best

of his ability with the state registrar of vital statistics in the Department of Health . . .

(2) The notice may be filed prior to the birth of the child but must be filed prior to the time the child was relinquished to a licensed child placing agency or prior to the filing of a petition by a person with whom the mother has placed the child for adoption . . .

(3) The Legislature finds that a certain degree of finality is necessary in order to facilitate the state's interest in expediting the adoption of young children and in protecting the rights and interests of the child, the birth mother, and the adoptive parents. Therefore, a putative father who fails to file his notice of paternity is barred from thereafter bringing or maintaining any action to assert any interest in the child unless he proves by clear and convincing evidence that:

(A) It was not possible for him to file a notice of paternity within the period of time specified in Subsection (2);

(B) His failure to file a notice of paternity was through no fault of his own; and

(C) He filed a notice of paternity within 10 days after it became possible for him to file.

(4) Except as provided in Subsection 78-30-4.1(4) failure to file a timely notice of paternity shall be deemed to be a waiver a surrender of any right to notice of any hearing in any judicial proceeding for adoption of the child, and the consent of that person to the adoption of the child is not required . . . .

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Plaintiff filed this action to assert his parental rights to a child born to the Defendant Denise Allan and given up for adoption by her through the Defendant L.D.S. Social Services.

##### A. Procedural Chronology of the Case.

1. The Plaintiff's Verified Complaint was filed on January 11, 1995 (R. 1-21). The Defendants answered the Plaintiff's

Complaint on January 30, 1995 (R. 25-29).

2. The Plaintiff sent his first discovery to the Defendants on February 17, 1995 (R. 30). The Defendants responded to the discovery on March 27, 1995 (R. 35-37). The Plaintiff filed a Motion to Compel on April 4, 1995 (R. 38-44).

3. The Defendants filed a Motion to Assert Exclusive Jurisdiction under the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction Act on May 12, 1995 (R. 50-157).

4. On May 12, 1995, the Defendants filed a Motion for Joinder of Adoptive Parents (R. 158-166).

5. On June 2, 1995, a Notice to Submit for Decision was submitted to the trial court for a determination of Plaintiff's Motion to Compel, Defendants' Motion under UCCJA and Defendants' Motion for Joinder of Adoptive Parents (R. 168-169). On August 15, 1995, the court entered its ruling denying Plaintiff's Motion to Compel and granting the motions filed by the Defendants (R. 170-171). An Order interpreting the court's ruling was filed on August 30, 1995 (R. 172-174).

6. The Defendants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on September 27, 1995 (R. 177-226). The Plaintiff filed his response to the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on October 12, 1995 (R. 227-259). Counsel for the adoptive parents filed their response on October 20, 1995 (R. 262-263). The Defendants filed their Reply Memorandum on October 23, 1995 (R. 264-278).

7. On November 14, 1995, the trial court denied Plaintiff's

Request for Oral Argument and entered its Ruling which was subsequently incorporated into an Order dated November 30, 1995 (R. 284-288). In relevant part, the court ruled as follows:

. . . The Court, having reviewed the file, considered the memoranda of counsel, and being fully advised in the premises, hereby orders as follows:

1. There is no material issue of fact.

2. Defendants are entitled to judgment as a matter of law because (a) plaintiff has made no efforts to file a notice of claim of paternity with the Utah Department of Health; (b) plaintiff is barred from asserting any interest in the child and has no right of consent to the child's adoption. Utah Code Annotated 78-30-4.8 (1994 Supp.); and (c) the recent case of In re Adoption of W., 275 Utah Adv. Rep. 20 (Utah App. 1995), is directly on point in rejecting plaintiff's legal claims.

3. Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment is granted.

4. Plaintiff's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment is denied.

5. Plaintiff's request for oral argument is denied, pursuant to Rule 4-501(c)(b), Code of Jud. Admin., because "the issue . . . governing the granting [of summary judgment] has been authoritatively decided."

R. 287.

8. The Plaintiff filed his Notice of Appeal on December 29, 1995 (R. 291-292).

**B. Statement of Facts.**

1. The Plaintiff was born on November 27, 1974, is 21 years of age and has continually been a resident of the State of California (Beltran affidavit, para. 2, R. 234).

2. The Defendant Denise Allan was 20 years old when she

filed her affidavit in October of 1995 and was likewise a resident of the State of California, residing with her parents (Allan affidavit, para. 2, R. 212).

3. The Plaintiff and Defendant agree that they began dating in 1993 and as a result of their romantic involvement, the Defendant Denise Allan became pregnant (Beltran affidavit para. 3, R. 233; Allan affidavit para. 3, R. 212).

4. The Plaintiff and the Defendant Allan further agree that in approximately March of 1994, one month into the pregnancy, Allan informed the Plaintiff that she was pregnant and that the Plaintiff was the father (Beltran affidavit at para. 4, R. 233; Allan affidavit at para. 3, R. 212).

5. The Plaintiff contends that in May of 1994, he broke up with Allan and for the first time discussed the possible adoption of the child. The Plaintiff contends that over a three-day period he argued with Allan, told her he would not agree to adoption and that he wanted the child (Beltran affidavit at para. 5, R. 233). Allan acknowledges that adoption was discussed and does not contend that the Plaintiff ever agreed to adoption. Allan does not contest that the Plaintiff, at all times, refused to agree to adoption and manifested his intent to raise the expected child (Allan affidavit, paragraphs 3-5, R. 212).

6. The Plaintiff contends that he remained friends with Allan until she "disappeared sometime in August of 1994" (Beltran affidavit para. 6, R. 233).

7. Allan contends that in June of 1994, approximately four

months into the pregnancy, she contacted LDS Social Services in California regarding the placement of her baby for adoption (Allan affidavit para. 5, R. 212). Allan contends that in July of 1994 she requested the Plaintiff to complete a background information form given her by LDS Social Services in California to be used in placing the baby for adoption (Allan affidavit para. 5, R. 212). Plaintiff acknowledges that he received adoption papers from Allan in August or September of 1994. The Plaintiff refused to sign them but did fill out information regarding medical and social background in case of medical complications (Beltran affidavit para. 7, R. 233). A copy of the forms that were completed by the Plaintiff were made part of the Court's file. The cover sheet for the forms, which fails to include any heading of the agency or persons preparing the form, provides as follows:

This BACKGROUND INFORMATION form is designed to provide you and us with a tool wherein significant social and medical information about your child's heritage is collected. If you plan adoption for your child, the identifying information you supply will be kept confidential. General information will be shared with your child's new family. If you have chosen to raise this child, you may wish to use this form to preserve information about yourself and the child's mother for future use . . . . (Emphasis added).

R. 203-208.

8. Thereafter, the Plaintiff continued to make plans to become a single parent (Beltran affidavit para. 9, R. 233).

9. The Plaintiff contends that he was never told that Allan had plans to go to Utah and specifically was not told by Allan

that she was leaving (Beltran affidavit para. 11, R. 232). In Allan's affidavit, she indicates that on August 15, 1994, she left California for Utah where she planned to complete her pregnancy (Allan affidavit para. 6, R. 211).

10. The Plaintiff contends that he did not learn of Allan's departure to Utah until late October of 1994. On October 27, 1994, the LDS Social Services sent a letter to the Plaintiff, which provided as follows:

This letter is to inform you that Denise Allan is being assisted by this agency in making an adoption plan for her child which is due to be delivered the end of November 1994. She has named you as a possible father of her unborn child . . .

Thank you for the background information we have already completed. It would be helpful if you could complete the family history pages and the WAIVER (in duplicate) signed in the presence of a notary. A self-addressed stamped envelope is enclosed for your convenience.

R. 249, Beltran affidavit para. 12, R. 232.

11. The Plaintiff, upon receiving the letter from LDS Social Services, wrote a letter, dated November 3, 1994, to Beverly Bekker which states as follows:

. . . Please be advised that I have filed a Complaint to Establish a Paternal Relationship requesting custody of our unborn child in the Superior Court of California, Case No. PF000505.

I do not intend to give up any of my paternal rights to this child, and, after blood testing, if the child proves to be mine, I intend to pursue custody as vigorously as possible.

I am enclosing a copy of the action filed here on October 26, 1994, and Denise Allan will be served with this action as quickly as that can be arranged.

If you have any questions, please contact me.

R. 184, Beltran affidavit para. 12; R. 232.

The Plaintiff also attempted to telephone the author of the Social Services letter, but Beverly Bekker hung up on the Plaintiff and accordingly, the Plaintiff did not have an opportunity to discuss all of the issues of the adoption with her (Beltran affidavit para. 16, R. 231; R. 273). Beverly R. Bekker in her affidavit filed with the court does not dispute that the Plaintiff attempted to discuss the case with her (Bekker affidavit, R. 131-133). The Plaintiff then corresponded with Bekker's supervisor, Richard E. Black and forwarded a letter to him dated December 11, 1994. The Plaintiff received a letter from Mr. Black refusing to provide any information and indicating that the adoption had been completed in November, 1994 (R. 1; Beltran affidavit paragraphs 16, 17, R. 231).

12. Allan acknowledges that she received a letter from the Plaintiff's mother toward the end of October indicating that both the Plaintiff and his family intended to take the child (R. 200-202, Allan affidavit para. 6, R. 224).

13. On October 26, 1994, the Plaintiff filed a paternity action in California seeking sole legal and physical custody of the child (R. 193-199, Beltran affidavit para. 13, R. 232). A copy of the California Summons, Restraining Order and Complaint were sent to Allan in Utah on November 3, 1994 and received by her, as shown by the Certified Mail receipt, on November 7, 1994 (R. 192, 199). The Restraining Order, issued by the California Court specifically provided:

You [Allan] and the other party are restrained from removing the minor child or children for whom this action seeks to establish a parent-child relationship from the state without the prior written consent of the other or an order of the Court.

These restraining orders are effective against Petitioner upon filing a Petition and against Respondent on personal service of the Summons and Petition or on waiver and acceptance of service by responding.

They are effective until the final decree is entered, the Petition is dismissed, or the Court makes a further order . . . .

R. 245.

14. On November 14, 1994, Allan gave birth to a baby girl in a Utah County hospital. On November 17, 1995, Allan signed a Relinquishment and Consent for Adoption (Allan affidavit paragraphs 11-12, R. 210; R. 191).

15. On November 25, 1994, Allan returned to California where she resides with her parents and attends college (Allan affidavit para. 13, R. 210).

16. On January 11, 1995, the present action was filed and on January 12, 1995, Plaintiff requested the entry of default against Allan in the California Court (R. 154). The default was ultimately set aside by the stipulation of the parties and based upon the filing of the Utah action, the California matter was dismissed on June 23, 1995 (R. 175-176).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is the Plaintiff's position that there are significant issues of fact that have been created by the pleadings and affidavits filed in this case. The existence of those material

issues of fact establishes that the trial court committed error in granting summary judgment.

The facts established by the Plaintiff in this case meet the requirements set out in statute and case law for the application of the impossibility exception to the required filing of a Notice of Paternity. It is submitted that the Plaintiff has established sufficient issues of fact to entitle him to an evidentiary hearing at which time he could establish that it was impossible for him to file a Paternity Notice within the required time frame and the impossibility was created through no fault of his own.

Finally, a rational interpretation of Ellis, due process requirements and the adoption statute mandate a finding that a strict interpretation of the adoption statute and the requirement that a notice be filed within ten days after it becomes possible is not fundamentally fair as applied to the facts of this case. Accordingly, the fact finder should be allowed to consider all of the facts and particularly all of the efforts the Plaintiff took to establish his parental rights.

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I: THE PRESENCE OF DISPUTED ISSUES OF FACT AND THE IMPROPER APPLICATION OF THE LAW PRECLUDES THE GRANTING OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that a party is entitled to an order granting summary judgment only if:

The pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the

moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. (Emphasis added.)

The first issue in determining the propriety of the granting of summary judgment is whether or not there are disputed material issues of fact. In reviewing that issue, this Court considers the evidence in the light most favorable to the losing party and affirms the granting of summary judgment "only where it appears that there is no genuine issue as to any material issues of fact, or where, even according to the facts as contended by the losing party, the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." D & L Supply v. Saurini, 775 P.2d 420, 421 (Utah 1989); Themy v. Seagull Enter., Inc., 595 P.2d 526, 528-29 (Utah 1979); Ward Perkins v. Great-West Life Assurance Company, 814 P.2d 1125 (Utah Ct. App. 1991). In reviewing the case to determine the presence of disputed material facts, the determination of the trial court is given no deference by the appellate court. Neiderhauser Builders & Dev. Corp. v. Campbell, 824 P.2d 1193, 1196 (Utah App. 1992).

The second issue relates to a review of the trial court's application of the law to the facts. The appellate court reviews the conclusions of the trial court for correctness, without according any deference to the trial court's determination. Winegar v. Froerer Corp., 813 P.2d 104, 107 (Utah 1991); Country Oaks Condominium Management Comm. v. Jones, 851 P.2d 640, 641 (Utah 1993); Allen v. Prudential Property and Casualty Ins. Co., 839 P.2d 798, 800 (Utah 1992); Brown v. Weis, 871 P.2d 552 (Utah Ct. App. 1994).

**POINT II: THE APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO FILE A NOTICE OF  
PATERNITY IS EXCUSED BY THE "IMPOSSIBILITY" EXCEPTION  
TO THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS.**

**A. An Exception to Filing a Notice of Paternity is  
Preserved by Utah Statutes.**

U.C.A. 78-30-4.8 (1994) establishes the requirement of filing a Notice of Paternity by a person who claims to be the father of a child born out of marriage. The statute, which was amended in 1990 to reflect recent decisions of Appellate Courts, specifically delineates the rights of unmarried fathers. In relevant part, the statute provides as follows:

(1)(a) Any person who is the father or claims to be the father of a child born outside of marriage may file notice of his claim of paternity and of his willingness and intent to support the child to the best of his ability with the state registrar of vital statistics in the Department of Health . . .

(2) The notice may be filed prior to the birth of the child but must be filed prior to the time the child was relinquished to a licensed child placing agency or prior to the filing of a petition by a person with whom the mother has placed the child for adoption . . .

(3) The Legislature finds that a certain degree of finality is necessary in order to facilitate the state's interest in expediting the adoption of young children and in protecting the rights and interests of the child, the birth mother, and the adoptive parents. Therefore, a putative father who fails to file his notice of paternity is barred from thereafter bringing or maintaining any action to assert any interest in the child unless he proves by clear and convincing evidence that:

(A) It was not possible for him to file a notice of paternity within the period of time specified in Subsection (2);

(B) His failure to file a notice of paternity was through no fault of his own; and

(C) He filed a notice of paternity within

10 days after it became possible for him to file.

(4) Except as provided in Subsection 78-30-4.1(4) failure to file a timely notice of paternity shall be deemed to be a waiver a surrender of any right to notice of any hearing in any judicial proceeding for adoption of the child, and the consent of that person to the adoption of the child is not required . . . . (Emphasis added).

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