1996

Mario G. Beltran v. Denise Allan; LDS Social Services, an Agency of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints; and John Does 1 through 5 :  
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

**POINT II: PLAINTIFF FAILED TO SATISFY THE IMPOSSIBILITY EXCEPTION TO TIMELY REGISTRATION OF PATERNITY.**

**A. Paternity Registration Requirement.**

The adoption statute in effect when this case arose provides that an unwed father may claim paternal rights in his newborn child only by timely registering a claim of paternity. Section 78-30-4.8(1)(a), Utah Code Ann. (1994 Supp.), states:



Any person who is the father or claims to be the father of a child born outside of marriage may file notice of his claim of paternity and of his willingness and intent to support the child to the best of his ability with the state registrar of vital statistics in the Department of Health. [Add. 43.]

To be timely, the father's paternity registration must be filed *before* the child is relinquished for adoption. Section 78-30-4.8(2) provides:

The notice may be filed prior to the birth of the child but *must be filed prior to the time the child is relinquished to a licensed child placing agency . . . .* [Id., emp. added.]

Because of the vital importance of determining with promptness and finality the long-term care of the child, a father who fails to register timely is barred from filing any action to assert any interest in the child. As set forth in section 78-30-4.8(3):

The Legislature finds that a certain degree of finality is necessary in order to facilitate the state's interest in expediting the adoption of young children and in protecting the rights and interests of the child, the birth mother, and the adoptive parents. Therefore, *any putative father who fails to file his notice of paternity is barred from thereafter bringing or maintaining any action to assert any interest in the child . . . .* [Id., emp. added.]

Furthermore, subsection (4) makes clear that a father who fails to register his paternity has *no rights* in relation to the adoption of the child:

[F]ailure to file a notice of paternity *shall be deemed to be a waiver and surrender of any right to notice* of any hearing in any judicial proceeding for adoption of the child, *and the consent of that person to the adoption of the child is not required.* [Id., emp. added.]

In accordance with these statutes, an unwed father who fails to register his claim of paternity prior to the child's relinquishment for adoption forfeits all paternal rights to the child, is barred from filing any action to assert any interest in the child, and has no right to contest the adoption of the child. See *In re Adoption of W*, 904 P.2d 1113, 1120 (Utah App. 1995) (father who fails to register pursuant to section 78-30-4.8 "is explicitly barred from

objecting to the adoption petition"); *Swayne v. L.D.S. Social Services*, 795 P.2d 637, 640 (Utah 1990) (rights of unwed father are "automatically terminated" upon mother's adoptive relinquishment); *Wells v. Children's Aid Society*, 681 P.2d 199, 202 (Utah 1984) (father's rights are "surrendered pursuant to statute" by failure to register timely claim of paternity); *Sanchez v. L.D.S. Social Services*, 680 P.2d 753, 755 (Utah 1984) (a firm cutoff date for registration is essential, and the father's diligence and sincerity short of timely registration are unavailing).<sup>8</sup>

Plaintiff concedes that he failed to comply with the foregoing registration requirement. (App. Br. 15.) Plaintiff not only failed to register a claim of paternity prior to Denise's relinquishment, he has *never registered a claim of paternity*. Therefore, plaintiff has forfeited his paternal rights, and this action is barred. *In re Adoption of W, supra*, 904 P.2d at 1120.

**B. Impossibility Exception.**

Plaintiff argues that he is exempt from the registration requirement by the terms of the statutory impossibility exception. (App. Br. 15.) However, the district court correctly ruled that plaintiff failed to satisfy the conditions of that exception.

The so-called "impossibility exception" authorizes the court to recognize a late paternity registration if the father proves by "clear and convincing evidence" that it was

---

<sup>8</sup>The current adoption statute, effective May 1, 1995, contains a similar paternity registration scheme. The unwed father of a newborn child can establish his paternal rights by filing with the Department of Health a notice of commencement of a paternity action prior to the mother's relinquishment of the child for adoption. U.C.A. § 78-30-4.14(2)(b) (1995 Supp.). A father who fails to comply with the statute "is deemed to have waived and surrendered any right in relation to the child . . . and his consent to the adoption of the child is not required." *Id.*, subsection (5). Accordingly, the legislative intent to require timely and definitive action by unwed fathers remains unchanged.

impossible for him to register timely through no fault of his own. Specifically, as set forth in 78-30-4.8(3), the unwed father must establish the following three conditions:

- (a) it was not possible for him to file a notice of paternity within the period of time specified in Subsection (2);
- (b) his failure to file a notice of paternity was through no fault of his own; and
- (c) he filed a notice of paternity within 10 days after it became possible for him to file. [*Id.*, Add. 43.]

This Court traced the legislative history and provided the correct interpretation of the impossibility exception in the recent case of *In re Adoption of W*, 904 P.2d 1113 (Utah App. 1995). There, the unwed parents were Indiana residents, but the mother went to Nevada one month before the birth without notifying the father. The mother's family refused to disclose her location to the father. The mother gave birth in Nevada and relinquished the child to an agency for adoptive placement in Utah. Unaware of the mother's location or of the child's birth, the father commenced a paternity action in Indiana on the day after the birth. Two weeks later, the mother notified the father of the birth and pending Utah adoption. However, the father failed to register a claim of paternity in Utah until eight months later. Instead, his attorneys notified the adoptive parents of his opposition to adoption and filed an objection in the adoption proceeding. This Court held that the father's failure to register timely barred him from objecting to the adoption. *Id.* at 1120. Moreover, the Court rejected the argument of substantial compliance with the statute, observing that precise adherence to statutory requirements is mandated by both policy and precedent. *Id.* at 1121. Finally, the Court held that the impossibility exception did not apply because, even if timely registration was impossible through no fault of the father, he still failed to register within ten days after

it became possible, based on the mother's notice of the Utah adoption. The Court concluded:

As a result of this failure to timely file his notice, [the father] forfeited the benefits of the statute. [*Id.*]

Based on the analysis and holding in *Adoption of W*, it is evident that the three conditions for the impossibility exception are not satisfied in this case.

1. **Impossibility.** Plaintiff has presented *no evidence*, clear and convincing or otherwise, demonstrating that timely registration of paternity was impossible. Plaintiff argues that timely registration was impossible because Denise left California without advising him and gave birth in Utah. (App. Br. 21.) As noted in the Statement of Facts, Denise maintains that she did inform plaintiff of her departure in August 1994, and plaintiff admitted in his deposition that he was informed prior to her departure. The record also shows correspondence between Denise and plaintiff's family in early October 1994, indicating that plaintiff knew Denise's Utah address. However, even if plaintiff was not informed of Denise's departure in August 1994, his own California complaint, signed October 25, concedes that he knew Denise had "moved to Utah and plans to release the child for adoption." (Add. 25.) Moreover, plaintiff mailed that complaint to Denise at her Provo, Utah address. Therefore, plaintiff admittedly knew Denise's location and intent at least 23 days before she relinquished the child on November 17. Because plaintiff learned of Denise's location and intent within sufficient time to register in Utah, her supposed departure without notice did not render timely registration impossible. *In re Adoption of W*, *supra*, 904 P.2d at 1120-21; *Wells v. Children's Aid Society*, 681 P.2d 199, 207-08 (Utah 1984) (timely registration

was not impossible because the father had "ample advance notice of the expected time of birth and the fact that the mother intended to relinquish the child for adoption").

Plaintiff next argues that timely registration was impossible because no one advised him of the paternity registration requirement. (App. Br. 21.) However, the law does not require actual notice of the statutory requirements for establishing paternal rights. *Sanchez v. L.D.S. Social Services, supra*, 680 P.2d at 755. The only notice that is required to an out-of-state father is that the child is to be born in Utah and could be placed for adoption. *Ellis v. Social Services Dept.*, 615 P.2d 1250, 1256 (Utah 1980); *In re Adoption of Baby Boy Doe*, 717 P.2d 686, 690-91 (Utah 1986). Plaintiff admittedly knew that the child was to be born in Utah and that Denise planned to place the child for adoption. With that knowledge, the burden is on the father to learn of the Utah legal requirements to protect his rights. *In re Adoption of W, supra*, 904 P.2d at 1121 (nonresident father must "strictly comply" with Utah law). Plaintiff contacted three different California attorneys who informed him that he needed a Utah attorney. Yet, plaintiff apparently ignored that advice and proceeded with a California action. However, filing a paternity action in the father's home state does not satisfy the Utah registration requirement. *In re Adoption of W, supra*, at 1115, 1120-21 (father's Indiana paternity action held unavailing under Utah law). Thus, plaintiff cannot create impossibility by choosing to remain ignorant of Utah legal requirements.

Finally, plaintiff claims that timely registration was impossible because he was not notified of the child's birth and relinquishment until the end of November 1994. (App. Br. 22.) However, occurrence of the birth is not necessary for timely registration. As set forth in section 78-30-4.8(2), the father's claim of paternity "may be filed *prior* to the birth of the

child." (Emp. added.) The father is not required to wait for the birth. Moreover, if he waits for notice of the relinquishment, he is too late in any event. *Id.* Here, plaintiff had advance notice of the expected birth and planned adoption with sufficient time to register his paternity. Therefore, plaintiff's ignorance of the actual birth and relinquishment did not render timely registration impossible.

In summary, timely registration was not impossible.

**2. Plaintiff's Fault.** Neither can plaintiff show that his failure to register prior to the relinquishment was through no fault of his own. Plaintiff argues that, upon learning of the impending Utah adoption, he "did everything he thought necessary to preserve and protect his rights." (App. Br. 23.) Plaintiff refers to his California paternity action, this subsequent Utah action, and his "manifested" intent to keep the baby. (*Id.*) However, while plaintiff may have done what he *thought was necessary*, he did not do what was *required by law*.

Plaintiff's actions do not satisfy the Utah registration statute. *In Adoption of W*, *supra*, the Indiana father commenced a paternity action in Indiana on the day after the birth, prior to the relinquishment and adoption petition in Utah. He subsequently filed an objection in the Utah adoption proceeding. However, this Court held that such legal actions avail nothing because they do not strictly comply with the registration statute. 904 P.2d at 1121. This Court cited *Sanchez v. L.D.S. Social Services, supra*, in which the Utah Supreme Court rejected a paternity registration that was one day late, holding that "strict compliance with the adoption statutes is reasonable because of the nature of adoptions." *Id.* This Court also cited *Lehr v. Robertson*, 463 U.S. 248 (1983), in which the United States Supreme Court held that the filing of a paternity action was insufficient to satisfy a paternity registration statute,

even though the adoption court and all interested parties were aware of the father's action.

The *Lehr* court explained:

The legitimate state interests in facilitating the adoption of young children and having the adoption proceeding completed expeditiously that underlie the entire statutory scheme also justify a trial judge's determination to require all interested parties *to adhere precisely* to the procedural requirements of the statute. [*Id.* at 265, emp. added.]

*See also Burns v. Crenshaw*, 733 P.2d 922 (Or. App. 1987) (unwed father's Washington paternity action did not satisfy the Oregon registration statute so as to qualify the father for notice of the Oregon adoption proceeding). Thus, plaintiff's legal actions and various manifestations of interest are inadequate to protect his rights.

Plaintiff's own fault was in failing to contact a Utah lawyer, or other person with knowledge of the Utah registration requirement, in time to register a claim of paternity prior to the relinquishment. Plaintiff admittedly knew of the impending birth and relinquishment in Utah, and he was advised by three California attorneys of the need to contact a Utah attorney, yet he failed to do so until it was too late. Plaintiff attempts to blame Denise for his failure, asserting that he had obtained a California restraining order against her departure. (App. Br. 25.) However, the supposed restraining order was not mailed to Denise until more than *two months after* she had already left California. Moreover, it had no effect on the child because the child was not yet born. In any event, the supposed order, by its own terms, had no effect until Denise received "personal service" or signed the waiver of service, neither of which occurred. (R. 195.) Finally, plaintiff blames the Agency for not advising him of his legal obligations. (App. Br. 25.) However, the Agency's duty was to Denise, the Agency's client. The Agency has no duty to advise an unwed father how he can

defeat the adoption plan of the client-unwed mother; to do so would violate the duty of confidentiality and loyalty owed to the mother, as well as the mother's right of privacy. Moreover, plaintiff has cited no authority for such a repugnant proposition.

In summary, plaintiff had sufficient information to protect his own rights, and he failed to do so. Because he himself bears the fault for failing to register his paternity, he cannot satisfy the impossibility exception.

**3. Registration Within 10 Days After It Became Possible.** Finally, plaintiff cannot show that he actually registered a claim of paternity within 10 days after it became possible to do so. Even if plaintiff could establish that timely registration was impossible through no fault of his own, he would still have to show that he registered within 10 days after it became possible. *Adoption of W, supra*, 904 P.2d at 1121 (even if impossibility and lack of fault are established, father "still must file his notice of paternity within ten days after it becomes possible for him to file"). But plaintiff admittedly *has never registered a claim of paternity*, not within 10 days after it became possible, not ever. If registration prior to the relinquishment was impossible, then it certainly became possible when Denise personally informed plaintiff of the completed adoption near the end of November 1994. *See Adoption of W, supra*, 904 P.2d at 1121 (concluding that registration became possible at least when the father was notified of the pending Utah adoption). In any event, a determination of precisely when registration became possible in this case is rendered unnecessary by plaintiff's failure to register at all. By that failure, plaintiff has forfeited the benefits of the impossibility exception statute. *Id.*

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